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  The Arctic trails have their secret tales

  That would make your blood run cold.

  Robert Service


  INTRODUCTION

  January 1926, Leavenworth Prison, Kansas

  The tall, handsome man walked into the warden’s office and sat on the long wooden bench. Though he was getting older and his blond hair was turning gray, he still carried himself well and retained the distinguished look of a prosperous country doctor. His eyes were as piercing as ever. But his face was pale and his body had lost the firmness of his glory days. The years in Leavenworth had done that.

  Dr. Frederick Cook was nervous. He got few visitors, not because he was forgotten but because he discouraged them. He did not want people to see him like this. Even his ex-wife, whom he remained close to, was barred. Though he still loved her dearly and she was in his thoughts every day, she would no longer be in his life. Every request for an interview had been turned down. Journalists, old friends, people who had been part of his earlier life when he had been celebrated coast to coast, they were all on the no visit list. But for the man who was on his way to the prison, he had to make an exception. Their lives were entwined in so many ways.

  Cook and his guards heard the sound of approaching footsteps, doors clanging open and banging shut, as the visitor made his way to the warden’s office. Then the door opened and a guard stepped in. Behind him was a big, ruddy-faced man, dressed well but looking slightly uncomfortable in his fashionable clothes: Roald Amundsen, the famous polar explorer, and the first man to the South Pole. Amundsen stepped around the guard and stood facing Cook, who had risen on his entrance. The two men stared at each other for a moment, then broad smiles broke out on their faces. As if of one mind, each man stepped forward and grasped the other firmly by the hand.

  They sat on the wooden bench, side by side. Amundsen did not let go of Cook’s hand. He was European, and comfortable with the intimacy. Cook was glad to feel the warmth of friendly companionship. After an exchange of pleasantries, under the watchful and curious eyes of the warden and a few prison guards, talk turned to the future—specifically to Amundsen’s plans to fly to the North Pole.

  They avoided the past, as if by a mutual pact. The past was like a ghost in the room, brooding over them. It was one of two ghosts they were both acutely aware of. But they brushed them aside, as Amundsen spoke of the failure of his attempt to fly to the Pole in 1925. The next time, he planned to use an airship. He grew animated as he told Cook about the Norge, and his plans for a transpolar flight. He had seen so many features on the ice during the 1925 flight, features which confirmed sightings Cook had made nearly two decades previously. As he listened, Cook got excited. Although he would not say it to the younger man, he knew those sightings could back up his claim, the claim that had both crowned his life’s achievements and blighted them.

  On April 15, 1909, Cook had arrived in Annoatok, northern Greenland, with a tale of unbelievable survival against the odds. He had disappeared fourteen months earlier with two Eskimo companions, last seen heading north across the frozen polar sea. When he reappeared—long after he was given up for dead—he told a delighted world that he had reached the Pole on April 22, 1908, but the drift of the polar sea had meant that it took him a full year to return to civilization.

  Unluckily for Cook, another American explorer had also set his heart on achieving the Pole. Naval Commander Robert Peary had impressive backers; even President Roosevelt had been behind him. Peary set out a year later than Cook, but had not got lost on his return. He reached civilization within five days of Cook, and also claimed to have reached the Pole. He said he got there on April 6, 1909. Cook was happy to share the glory; Peary, less so. The naval commander immediately threw the weight of his considerable circle of friends into a frenzied effort to discredit Cook. The two men, once friends, ended up in an unseemly media war. Bit by bit, all of Cook’s previous achievements came under scrutiny. Peary even paid a massive bribe to one man to discredit Cook’s claim to have been the first to climb Mount McKinley, the highest point in North America. It was a campaign of dirty tricks and intense bitterness, and it worked. Within a year, Cook was seen by everyone as a fraud.

  The stigma followed him for the rest of his life. Now Peary was long dead, but as Cook languished in Leavenworth Prison, he knew that it was the ghost of Peary that put him there; the judge at his trial had been a personal friend of his rival, and had imposed a sentence far harsher than his offense warranted.

  The other ghost that brooded over Cook and Amundsen in the dank visiting room was the elemental spirit of the Pole itself. It had shaped and dominated both their lives. Cook had known from his early twenties that he wanted to reach 90 degrees north; Amundsen had known from his teens, when he had started sleeping naked on top of his sheets, with his windows wide open. The frozen Norwegian air hardened his body for the adventures he dreamed of, and there had been many adventures. Amundsen had spent the first winter in Antarctica with Cook, and had been the first to navigate the Northwest Passage. In 1908 he was ready to make his own dash for the Pole. Then, within a week, he had heard that both his rivals, Cook and Peary, claimed to have snatched the prize.

  Devastated, he altered his plans and secretly sailed south, becoming the first man to reach the South Pole, an accomplishment he considered a sort of consolation prize. As he sat with Cook that day in 1926, he must have wondered how things might have turned out if Cook and Peary had not both claimed the main prize. He knew that there were considerable doubts over Cook’s claim, and he suspected that there was doubt over Peary’s—the brash American had never had a high reputation in Europe. But history had decided, at least then, to accept Peary’s claim, and Amundsen had to go along with that verdict.

  To Cook, Amundsen appeared pensive and almost depressed that afternoon.

  “Our lot has been a hard one,” Amundsen said with a sigh. “From the depths of poverty to the heights of glory. From brief spells of hard earned success to the scourge of condemnation. I have wondered for years how you stood it all. I have had the same, with perhaps not so much of the knife in it, but with quite as much of the pain of envy.”

  After forty-five minutes the warden signaled the end of the visit. As Amundsen turned to go, he said, “I want you to know that even if all the world goes against you, I believe in you as a man.”

  Amundsen left to continue his lecture tour, a fundraiser for the airship flight over the Pole. If he succeeded he would be the third man to reach the spot, and the first to fly there. But life is never that simple, and he was very aware that he had a rival, a young Navy aviator named Richard Byrd. Although he did not know it at the time, theirs would be a very closely contested race, a race he would lose by hours.

  And he would die without ever knowing that Byrd’s claim to the Pole was as dubious as Cook’s. Eventually, Peary’s claim was also discredited. The three American heroes had knowingly and deliberately tried to pull a con on the entire world. Cook got away with it for a couple of months. It took decades before Peary and Bryd were found out. The spirit of the Pole was a dark one, inspiring greed, envy, deceit, and outright fraud. If the race to the South Pole was a tale of courage and self-sacrifice, the race to the North Pole was a sordid tale of great men with great flaws who allowed their soaring ambitions to overcome their ethics and honesty.

  As Cook was escorted back to his cell, his step was lighter. The visit had done him a lot of good, and his jaunty air belied his sixty years. Some part of him hoped that Amundsen would find something in the bleak but beautiful polar landscape to back up his own claim to have been the first there. Despite his lengthy incarceration, he could still dream. . . .

  SEEKING THE BIG NAIL

  Spring, 1908

  How far is far enough? It was an impossible question, but one that had been bothering Dr. Frederick Cook for some weeks. He had begun to ponder the problem shortly after leaving the relative safety of Axel Heiberg Island, high in the Canadian Arctic, in early March. Now, after several weeks on the rough and broken sea ice, he thought of little else.

  All of his life, since the deaths of his wife and young daughter, had been leading him to these few weeks. He was not just marching across the ice; he was marching toward his destiny. And like all men with a destiny, he had a massive ego. Neither man nor elements—nor facts—was going to deny him his goal.

  Cook wanted to be the first man to reach the top of the world, the North Pole. And he was damned if he was going to allow two scared Eskimo to spoil the party.

  As he and his two companions—Inuit natives Ahwelah and Etukishook—trudged over the rough ice, the dry crunch of their shuffling feet in the powdery snow was the only sound for miles around—that, the yapping of their dogs, and an occasional sigh from their labored breathing. The sound of their footsteps was like a weak heartbeat, slowing imperceptibly as the days turned to weeks and the cold and hunger bit deeper into their bodies. The puppy fat of civilization was gone, as the three men were living on their reserves. And only one of them was happy with that situation.

  The snow stretched before them, behind them, and around them in endless desolation. The horizon was flat, but the ground was broken and rough, making progress slow. The North Pole is on floating frozen sea water, unlike the South Pole. You didn’t have to face the high altitude, deep glacial crevasses, and the coldest temperatures on the planet. But sea ice has its own dangers. The waters beneath are constantly moving, and the ice is only a few feet thick. It creaks and buckles alarmingly. Pressure waves build up, leading to rough going. The ground underfoot, buried beneath a few inches of powdery snow, can be as broken as a field of rocks and as dangerous to unwary ankles.

  The other danger is leads—spaces of open water revealed when the ice cracks. If you slip and a hand plunges into that water, you will lose the fingers to frostbite. That is not a gamble; it is a stone cold certainty. And if you fall into the lead, it is game over.

  Those who have never been to the Arctic have a picture of the region as cold and bleak, like the grainy photos that the explorers brought home. But despite its dangers, nothing could be further from the truth. The Arctic is alive with color. The sun never rises much above the horizon, so the sky is a constant glorious sunset. Sometimes when the cloud cover is dense, the sky can take on a luminous salmon shade that stretches from high overhead down to the horizon. The color becomes reflected in the ice, and the horizon disappears, giving the impression that you are marching disembodied through a pink haze—what Scandinavians call a Pink Moment. At other times the sky seems to be on fire, with red and purple and angry orange hues.

  The ice you are trudging through has its own palette of rich blues and greens. And when the conditions are still, particles of moisture crystallize in the air, glittering like diamonds in the sunlight. It is like walking through your own ticker-tape parade.

  “I can see the sun lying low above the horizon, which glittered here and there in shafts of light like the tip of a long, circular, silver blade. The globe of fire, veiled occasionally by purplish, silver-shot mists, was tinged with a faint, burning lilac. Through opening cracks in the constantly moving field of ice, cold strata of air rose, deflecting the sun’s rays in every direction, and changing the vision of distant ice irregularities which a deceptive perspective, as an oar blade seen in the depth of still water,” wrote Cook, some months later.

  Attaining the North Pole—or the Big Nail, as the Inuit called it—had been the goal of a generation of explorers, many of whom who lost their lives on the ice. In theory it was simple; just head north until any step you took in any direction was south. But there were complications. So close to the magnetic pole, a compass was useless. It would lead back to the magnetic pole on Ellesmere Island, close to where Cook had left from. So Cook had to use a sextant to keep on track. Observations were complicated, involving mathematical procedures and charts, and could only be taken at noon every day. His two companions couldn’t tell time, let alone use a sextant, so all positional questions fell to Cook.

  There was another complication: the ice was moving.

  You could take your sighting at the beginning of a six-hour march, then cover ten miles. At the end of that drudge you might discover that the ice had moved back three miles, robbing you of a third of your hard-earned gain. Worse, it could drift sideways, meaning you were walking in a perpetual spiral around your final destination. Two steps forward, one step back, and a little jig to the left or right. It is the curse of the Arctic explorer.

  However, Cook had one thing going for him. He was pioneering a new style of exploration. He traveled light, and used local knowledge and expertise. Previous generations of explorers had taken large expeditions, with dozens of men and tons of equipment. They were slow and ponderous, and risked being stranded if they did not get clear of the ice before the season turned. Cook brought twenty natives and eight sleighs to the edge of the Arctic Ocean; small by the standards of the time. They killed a supply of fresh meat, then reduced the team to three.

  Cook had just two native companions. They were using a team of twenty-six dogs pulling two sleighs, and carrying enough food for eighty days. Living off the land meant killing and feasting on the dogs as the trip progressed; he expected to return with one sleigh and just six dogs. The plan was to move fast, and be gone no more than three months.

  Essential supplies included a collapsible canvas boat for the open leads, as well as 805 pounds of beef pemmican (an unpalatable mix of beef and fat), 130 pounds of walrus pemmican, fifty pounds of musk ox tenderloin, and twenty-five pounds of musk ox fat. To wash this down, they packed two pounds of tea and a pound of coffee. They had fuel, matches, a silken tent, and reindeer hide sleeping bags. They also brought two rifles and ammunition, for game hunting and protection against polar bears.

  As well as speed and mobility, Cook had another key advantage over earlier explorers. His companions were very experienced in the bleak polar conditions, but they were uneducated savages. They knew they were seeking the Big Nail; at one point the world had been pinned to a great iron spike in the far north. But that nail had fallen in the snow and been lost—which was why iron was so scarce and so valuable. But why the white man wanted to find the nail, they did not know. They could not read his shiny instruments, so they had to trust him when he said they had arrived.

  Cook knew his companions could keep him alive in the far north, and could not contradict his story when he made it back to civilization. It was Mount McKinley all over again. Once he got close enough, a bit of flim-flam would convince the world he had achieved his goal. That is why the question of “how far is ‘far enough’” was so important.

  It was not that Cook needed to cheat. He had serious credentials as an explorer. He had been to the Antarctic twice, and was part of the first team to spend a winter in the far south. He had also opened up the Rockies in Alaska, and was credited with the first ascent of North America’s highest mountain, Mount McKinley. He was a founding member of the Polar Club and the Explorers Club. But his experience on McKinley—where he had climbed a minor, neighboring peak and claimed the main prize—showed him that a good story, convincingly told, would be good enough if things turned bad.

  Still, he had to make it look genuine, so he pushed north, grittily gaining a few more miles with each forced march. From Axel Heiberg Island to the Pole was just 520 miles, and if conditions were right he would achieve his goal for real.

  For three weeks he took his sextant readings faithfully every noon. Every night they made camp on the ice. Every morning they broke camp and pushed farther into the unknown. But Ahwelah and Etukishook were getting worried. Inuit do not like being so far from land, and from game. And they did not understand the white man’s obsession with the Big Nail. They were only with Cook because he had promised them each a gun and a knife. Riches indeed to nomadic hunters, but not worth their lives. And the dogs were getting restless; polar explorers had learned that dogs did not relish working on sea ice.

  After twenty-four days they had advanced 360 miles, more than halfway to the Pole. They were averaging fifteen miles a day, which was less than the experienced polar explorer would have wished. Cook knew enough to realize his expedition was in trouble. At this rate there was no margin for error; they ran a serious risk of their food running out. And it had not been smooth so far.

  On April 8 the weather had broken, plunging the three men into five days of misery, as freezing winds made breathing painful. Finally the two Inuit could take no more; they wanted to turn. As Cook wrote: “They were lost in a landless, spiritless world, in which the sky, the weather, the sun, and all was a mystery.”

  There was a tense stand-off on the ice. The cold and starved Inuit insisted they would not walk a step further. Cook argued and cajoled. He told them of rich and undiscovered hunting grounds farther north. He threatened to deny them their guns and knives if they let him down. Finally he promised them that they were only five days from the Pole. Five more sleeps and they could turn. Reluctantly, they lifted their whips and urged the dogs forward.

  Despite the pressure of imminent mutiny, Cook’s excitement grew as the sextant revealed day by day how much closer to his goal he was. Soon he would find out how far was far enough.

  “Feverish impatience seized me. Cracking our whips, we bounded ahead. The boys sang. The dogs howled. Midnight of April 21 had just passed. Over the sparkling snows the post-midnight sun glowed like at noon. I seemed to be walking in some splendid golden realms of dreamland. As we bounded onward, the ice swam about me in circling rivers of gold.

  “Etukishook and Ahwelah, though thin and ragged, had the dignity of the heroes of a battle which had been fought through to success.”

  At noon on April 21, Cook called a halt. As his companions prepared a simple meal of pemmican and tea, he took another sextant reading. The Inuit knew this was it. For the white man, glory. For them, the chance to turn for home.

  “For that moment I was intoxicated,” Cook wrote. “I stood alone, apart from my two Eskimo companions, a shifting waste of purple ice on every side, alone in a dead world—a world of angry winds, eternal cold, and desolate for hundreds of miles in every direction as the planet before man was made.

  “I felt in my heart that thrill which any man must feel when an almost impossible but dearly desired work is attained—the thrill of accomplishment with which a poet must regard his greatest masterpiece, which a sculptor must feel when he puts the finishing touch to inanimate matter wherein he has expressed consummately a living thought, which a conqueror must feel when he has mastered a formidable alien army.”

  Jubilant, Cook took a large stars and stripes flag from one of the sleighs, and tied it to a tent pole. He was claiming the top of the world for his ninety million countrymen.

  “I felt a pride as I gazed at the white and crimson barred pinion, a pride which the claim of no second victor has ever taken from me.”

  The men camped overnight. The temperature was -86°F, and the ice was eighteen feet thick beneath their feet. Under the ice, the Arctic Sea stretched a further four thousand feet beneath them. They were on top of the world. And they were over five hundred miles from the safety of land—if Cook could be believed. Even if he was exaggerating their distances, they were in a very perilous position. It was time to turn home.

  But had he come far enough?
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  PEARY’S EARLY LIFE

  Give me the boy until he is seven, and I will give you the man,” is a famous quote from St. Francis Xavier, one of the early luminaries of the Jesuit order. The Jesuits are the special forces of the Catholic Church. Intellectuals and educators, they believe strongly that the early years are vital in forming character. They would have had a field day with Robert Peary.

  Peary was a classic mama’s boy, raised in the shadow of a domineering and overprotective mother. She was determined to keep her little boy safe, both from other little boys and from the dangers of the world. Their relationship was so close she even came along on the grown Perry’s honeymoon, which caused a lot of tension with his new wife.

  It is perhaps understandable, because she was widowed early and her darling Robert was all that she had in the world. She doted on him. But there is no doubt that the unnaturally close relationship between mother and son shaped the man, twisting him in ways that made some of his later polar peculiarities more understandable, if not any more forgivable.

  Peary came from good sea-faring stock. His roots were both French (on his mother’s side) and English (on his father’s). His great-great-grandfather, Stephen Peare, had sailed around Cape Horn to the Pacific Ocean. Even today that is a perilous route, and back in the days of sail, only the most experienced of mariners dared the passage. But after Stephen, the family seemed to have settled on land, though they retained their links with the world of shipping. Many of them were in the lumber business.

  Charles Peary was a cooper, a highly skilled trade much in demand. He made barrels, which were essential for shipping. There was considerable art in making a perfect barrel. Each stave had to be perfectly cut so that when they curved together and were bound by bands of iron or brass, the seals became watertight. A good cooper never lacked for work, and Charlie built a thriving business. He was based in Cresson, Pennsylvania. This was a long way from the sea, in the center of the stage. The village was situated high in mountainous terrain, and was noted for its natural beauty, its forests, and its pure mineral springs. When the railway arrived it became a popular destination for the rich on vacation.

  It was a thriving community and Charles was doing well. He married Mary Wiley, a woman of French descent. Her family were based around Portland, Maine, and Mary had a reputation for gentleness and piety. She was a soft woman, perhaps more suited for city living. The couple settled in the village and their first son, Robert, arrived on May 6, 1856. They were delighted, and spoiled their young charge. It seemed they were destined for a comfortable, if unremarkable, life in small-town America.

  But when Robert was just three his father contracted pneumonia. This is a severe lung condition that can swiftly become fatal. A century ago, before antibiotics, a diagnosis of pneumonia was often a death sentence. Although he was just thirty years old and strong, he was unable to fight off the disease, and he died within a few weeks. Mary, not robust herself, was plunged into a deep depression. She was unable to cope with widowhood. Her family rallied around, but her depression settled like a cloud over the family. All the familiar surroundings reminded her of what she had lost. Not for her the conventional route of staying in the locality and maybe starting afresh with a new husband. She knew she had to leave.

  Luckily the cooperage was doing very well. Charles’s share of the business was worth close to $12,000—quite a fortune in those days. Mary, who got the full share, knew she would be a wealthy woman. She decided to leave almost immediately, packing her most essential belongings, and taking a train back to Portland. She left within a day or two of her husband’s death. In fact, she took his body on the train with her, so that it could be buried in Maine, near where she intended to settle. It was all done with unseemly haste.

  Robert, barely talking, was thrust from a bustling world of friends and country freedom into a big gloomy house with only a depressed mother for company. She had lost one of the most important men in her life and was determined she would not lose a second. She began to mollycoddle the young boy. She treated him as part doll, part girl, and part pet. She fussed over him and became wildly overprotective. One thing she quickly decided was that he was weak and delicate, and not suitable for the robust play of growing boys. She rarely let him out with the neighboring kids. On the few occasions that she did let him stray, he had to dress up warmly in winter, or wear a bonnet in summer to protect his sensitive skin from the sun. A small child with a lisp, these few extra humiliations were all that were needed to make him stand out as a figure of fun among the tougher boys of the locality. He was teased unmercifully, and subjected to bullying.

  What the bullies did not realize was that a lisp was not a sign of physical frailty; just ask any of Mike Tyson’s opponents. Peary might have appeared a weakling, but there burned inside him a fierce pride, and a determination to prove himself. Instead of running away when confronted, he boldly struck back. The result was that he got into a lot of fist fights, and ended up coming home battered and bruised. Of course, this reinforced his mother’s belief that he was weak and needed protecting. Instead of letting him fight his own battles, she tried to remove him from the battlefield. The vicious cycle continued. Robert Peary was being raised a sissy, even though he had the backbone of a far tougher character.

  Throughout his life he rebelled in small ways, while remaining outwardly loyal and devoted to his mother. Perhaps his polar exploits could be seen in that light, as one massive rebellion against an over-restricted upbringing.

  He had five years of loving imprisonment before escape beckoned in the form of boarding school. At the tender age of eight he was sent to a boys’ academy, where he thrived in the sudden freedom. He wrote home frequently, and couldn’t keep his delight out of the missives. He was trying baseball, and playing with the boys in the fields every day after class. He reveled in this newly discovered man’s world.

  At the age of fourteen he returned home, much to the delight of his mother, and entered Portland High School in 1870. In a new school, among new companions, you can be whoever you like. But Peary was denied that luxury; not long into his first year he was struck by typhoid fever, a very severe bacteriological illness that is fatal in up to a third of cases if untreated. In 1870 there was no treatment except bed rest and plenty of cooling baths to break the fever. Peary was back in the loving clutches of his mother.

  The fever took a month to work its way through his body, and then there were a few more weeks of bed rest to recuperate. Ever cautious, Mary would not let him back into the hurly-burly of school until she was sure he was ready. Instead she brought him an endless stream of books to keep him occupied. He developed a fondness for books on natural history, and dreamed of escape to the exotic climes the books described. When he finally got back to school he had to cram to make up the year’s work in three months. Already the determination that would mark his later years was evident.

  School was an escape from the cloying atmosphere at home, and Peary thrived in high school. He got good grades and was chosen as one of the student speakers at the graduation. He spoke on Nature’s Mysteries, a topic that gave him plenty of scope to talk about natural history and far flung locations. At one point he flung out a question—what would man find at the North Pole? Some years later he would set out to answer that very question.

  Peary’s final grades were enough to win him a scholarship to Bowdoin College. Bowdoin was a small liberal arts college with a friendly atmosphere and a low student to teacher ratio, making the tuition very personal. Among the more famous graduates were Henry Wadsworth Longfellow and Nathanial Hawthorne. Today it is ranked as the fourth best liberal arts college in the United States. The only drawback was that the faculty was located in Brunswick, a small coastal town nearly thirty miles from Portland. Could Mary Peary bear to see her son take such a long journey?

  In the end—much to the consternation of her extended family—she decided that she would have to move to Brunswick with her son. Now a grown man about to embark on his college education, she still would not cut the apron strings.

  This unnaturally close relationship with his mother stamped Peary’s personality permanently. At times he could be confident and sure of himself. But sometimes the insecurities bred by his upbringing would come out. Also, he had the typical entitled attitude of a spoiled child who is always indulged. The closeness bred some very negative personality traits. He was used to having things done for him, and in later life he hired a manservant who accompanied him on all his polar expeditions. He also developed a rebellious streak, which manifested itself in his desire to escape. You couldn’t escape much farther away than the Pole.

  Although the college had a liberal arts leaning, Peary chose to study civil engineering. He had a natural calling for the subject, which combined precise mathematical work with the ability to organize large projects. These skills would prove very useful when he became an explorer. He did very well in college. Not only did he thrive academically, he also threw himself into student life. He rowed for his year, and was involved in planning social events such as Ivy Day celebrations, an important event in the college calendar. He was a member of two honor societies, Phi Delta Kappa and Kappa Delta Epsilon. When he graduated in 1877, he was ranked second in his class of more than fifty.

  At that point Robert Peary was an independent young man. He had good qualifications and could have found work in any of the growing cities along the east coast. Instead he took the path of least resistance, and followed his mother to Fryeburg, a small village on the border of Maine and New Hampshire. In this rural community in the mountains, surrounded by swift rivers and deep forest, Mary Peary was returning to a community not far removed from what she had left when her husband had died eighteen years previously. It was a curious move—and one designed to keep her son in tow; there were not many opportunities for ambitious young civil engineers in the village.

  He managed to get work doing a survey of Fryeburg, his first job. But it hardly stretched his skills, or gave him any satisfaction. As the months passed, the exuberance of his college days slowly drained from him, leaving him lethargic and lacking in confidence. He was in the doldrums, drifting to nowhere. His only outlet was long walks in the woods, observing the wildlife. He took a keen interest in nature still, and began stuffing animals as a hobby, gaining a small reputation locally as a taxidermist. He dated a local woman, and they became engaged.

  Mediocrity beckoned.
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  COOK’S CHILDHOOD

  Some people are born to be explorers. Others have exploration thrust upon them. The latter was certainly the case with Dr. Frederick Cook, a Brooklyn physician who had no childhood ambitions to wander the remote regions of the globe. He was a middle-class boy with a go-ahead attitude and a great future ahead of him. He wanted a good job and a secure income, an escape from the poverty he had risen out of. If tragedy had not blighted his life, he would never have set foot in the Polar Regions—or left his mark on the world stage.

  Dr. Cook did not run away to discover the world—he ran away to escape it.

  He had come from stout immigrant stock—like most Americans—and grew up in a rural idyll. His father, Dr. Theodore Koch, was from Germany. After receiving his medical degree, he sailed for the new world full of hope. He arrived in 1848 and settled in a quiet spot, Sullivan County in the Catskill Mountains, north of New York City. Upstate New York is a place of rolling hills, swift rivers, and dense forest. Although only a few hours’ ride from the city, it was a wilderness abounding in wildlife, like the forests of his native Germany. Every fall the leaves turn gold and bronze and yellow, a kaleidoscope that to this day draws scores of visitors.

  Dr. Koch built a solid medical practice in the small town of Callicoon. He had a cabin on fifteen acres at the edge of the village. The land was too rocky and hilly to be productive, but the medical practice made him an important figure locally. Then the civil war intervened, and Koch became an army medical examiner. To fit in with his new colleagues, he anglicized his name, becoming Dr. Cook. But though he was making efforts to assimilate, he stayed within his own community when it came to marriage.

  Magdalena Long was another German immigrant. Her family had settled in the teeming melting pot of New York City, but a cholera epidemic broke out in 1850. To escape the dreaded disease the Longs moved out of the city to the Catskills. That is where she met the ambitious young doctor. They married a number of years before the war broke out and had five children, four boys and a girl. Frederick was the second youngest son, born on June 10, 1865. This was just two months after the war ended, with a victory for the North. Frederick became the first Koch to be christened a Cook.

  His duties with the army over, Theodore settled back into his rural practice. He was kept busy, but he was never going to get rich in this farming community, where many patients paid with produce. Livestock and grain were as common as cash when it came time to settling the bill. It gave the doctor a good lifestyle but not much chance to save for emergencies.

  In 1870, when Frederick was just five, one such emergency arose: Theodore contracted pneumonia. A century ago, before antibiotics, a diagnosis of pneumonia was often a death sentence. Theodore battled the illness, but succumbed. The haunting image of his father in the coffin never left Frederick Cook.

  Suddenly the family was plunged from comfort into genteel poverty. There were bills to be paid and no cash coming in to pay them. The children, particularly the older brothers, did their best. The family had fifteen acres, which they tried to farm. Back in Theodore’s day the land was of minor importance, but now it became vital to their survival. Unfortunately it was too rocky to till, and they had no success. The two eldest boys were forced to drop out of school and find work.

  Frederick continued his schooling, but spent all his spare time out in the wilderness. He roamed the hills, sleeping out under the stars and honing the survival skills that would one day become so important. He became quite ingenious, adapting to the conditions as best he could. When the winter snow came and he could not afford a sled, he fashioned one out of trees he cut down. It proved to be quite a speedy little sled, and soon others were coming to him looking for his expertise. Little did he suspect that this skill would play an important part in his later life.

  But eventually the struggle to make fifteen rocky acres support a family became too much for the Cooks. The oldest son, William, got a job in New York, and the whole family moved into the city, settling in Brooklyn. There would be more opportunities to find work in a city, and their economic position immediately improved. But Magdalena was determined that the family would move up in the world. One way to ensure this was to keep one son in education. She decided that Frederick was the ideal candidate to go to college and qualify as a doctor, following in his father’s footsteps.

  This meant that Frederick had to remain in school while his brothers were out in the world bringing in an income. It was part of a larger plan, but the young man was not one to neglect his family duties. He had to pull his weight. So he got a job in addition to his school work. The hours suited him; he began in the small hours of the morning, a time he would otherwise have wasted on sleep. Cook worked at a food market, supplying restaurants and shops. He began each day at 2:00 a.m., often working until the morning was well advanced before heading to school. Though he was frequently late for school as a consequence, he managed to keep up with his studies.

  He switched jobs, working for a real estate company as an office boy. But that clashed with the hours he should have been in class, so he decided to become an entrepreneur. If he had his own business, he could suit his hours to his obligations. He started a small printing business. Once he had that well established he sold it and used the profits of the sale to buy a door-to-door milk delivery service—people always needed milk. He was still in his teens, but showed the drive that would characterize the rest of his career.

  Door-to-door delivery was a new idea at the time. It would eventually become common throughout much of urban America, until refrigeration made it unnecessary. Cook was in at the start, and quickly built up a solid customer base. In fact, he bought a horse to cope with the growing demand, and recruited his brothers to help. Eventually he had a number of employees and several wagons delivering bottles and picking up the empties. He was still in high school.

  Despite his busy schedule, he graduated from Public School No. 37 with sufficient grades to qualify for Columbia University. Like the man who would become a good friend, rival explorer Roald Amundsen, he had no choice in his college course—his mother pushed him into a career in medicine. The big difference was that Cook embraced the opportunity. He threw himself into his studies while he also continued to work on the milk delivery. The hours suited the life of a student. Cook began his deliveries at 1:00 a.m., working through until morning, so that his customers had fresh milk for breakfast. At 10:00 a.m., he would be in the university, where he stayed until 4:00 p.m. That left him some time to eat, study, then catch up on a few hours of sleep before 1:00 a.m. rolled around again and the process began anew.

  Cook was a dynamo of energy, requiring only a few hours of sleep each night. This ability to get by on only a few hours of sleep was something he had all through his life. It gave him a few extra hours each day, and would be particularly important in survival situations.

  In 1888, two years before he graduated, there was a massive blizzard that brought the entire city to a standstill. Milk delivery was out of the question; roads were impassable. The University closed its doors for a number of days, as commercial life creaked to a halt. The only people doing good business were the coal yards. Everyone wanted fires, and homes were running low. Cook’s own family was feeling the chill. Instead of buckling under the strain, Cook saw the opportunity. One of his brothers had built a boat for the summer. Cook put two stout wooden runners under the boat and converted it into a large sleigh. He hitched two horses to it, and he had transport. Not only did he ferry fuel from the coal yard to his mother, he began delivering to the neighbors—but for a price. For a week, Frederick Cook was one of the busiest men in New York, as he kept the team of horses on their toes. Nothing could keep him down.

  When the thaw came, he resumed his studies. Columbia University was quite a distance from Brooklyn. He wasted quite a while on the commute, which included a ferry trip. In 1888 the medical department moved, resulting in a thirty block walk on top of his commute. So he switched to New York University to complete his medical training.

  The following year was the turning point in Cook’s life. He spotted a wonderful young woman at the Methodist church one weekend. His eye was immediately caught by the attractive blonde. Not only was she pretty, she was bright and independent. In an era when women were reared for the matrimonial bed, she had chosen to enter the male dominated profession of stenographer. She worked in the office of a Manhattan shoe factory. Cook was introduced to Libby Forbes at a social event organized by his church, and he was quickly smitten. She in turn was drawn to the eager young doctor. It was love at first sight. After a whirlwind romance they married in 1889. Frederick would not even wait a year until he had finished his studies and gained his doctorate. Caution was not in his makeup.

  The young couple set up home together and were blissfully happy. The world seemed to be opening up for them. Cook was earning money from his entrepreneurial activities, and close to qualifying as a doctor. In a society without the rigid class structure of Europe, where a man made his own destiny, they seemed to be on the cusp of the American Dream. Then Libby became pregnant, and their happiness was complete. They worked out the dates, and realized that the baby would arrive in early 1890, within days of the date that Frederick would qualify as a doctor. What could be more perfect?

  As the months progressed he continued to work the long hours at the milk route, while also studying every day and attending his lectures. It was a hectic schedule, but at the end of every day he returned to his wife and the promise of the future.

  In the spring of 1890 Libby went into labor, but it was a tough labor, and when she finally gave birth to a daughter, the baby was weak. The child survived for a few hours, then died. The ordeal had also taken a lot out of Libby; she had bled a lot, and they struggled to bring the bleeding under control. She lost a lot of strength, and was confined to bed for a number of days. During that confinement an infection set in, and she began running a high fever. Cook abandoned his other duties and stayed with his young wife, offering what comfort he could. But it was an era before antibiotics, and there was little that could be done apart from making her comfortable and hoping for the best.

  A few days after their child died, Cook had to tear himself away to face his final exam. He left Brooklyn and hurried to the university, tearing through the test as fast as he could. Then it was a run to the ferry, and back to the side of his ailing wife. She had weakened further in his absence. All that evening and the following day, along with a local doctor, he battled to turn her condition around. As the sky darkened toward evening, there was a knock on the door. He smiled down at her, squeezed her hand, and went to the door, where a messenger handed him an envelope. He tore it open, and looked for the only word that mattered: Passed.

  With a grin he ran to Libby’s bedroom, and sat on the edge of the bed. He opened the letter and passed it across to her. She read it and smiled at him. They held hands. In that moment he must have believed it would all work out. She had to see the light at the end of the tunnel, and pull through. She squeezed his hand, and they remained side by side as the evening turned into night.

  A few hours later, she died in his arms.

  Cook felt like he was falling, and there was no ground to catch him. It had all been for nothing. The years of struggle, the hours in the lecture halls and anatomy theaters, the long nights delivering milk, the constant struggle: just when it was all coming right, it had gone so horribly wrong. Two weeks earlier he was looking forward to fatherhood and a new profession. Now he had lost his child and lost his beloved Libby. The medical degree felt like so much dirt beneath his fingernails.

  For a while he was in a wilderness, wandering the streets by night and day, as if seeking in the dark corners some consolation for what he had lost. But there was none. His family rallied around, doing their best to support him in his grief. Eventually he agreed to move from his house in Brooklyn, with all its memories, to a new place in Manhattan. His mother went with him, to look after him in his time of need. He had neglected the milk delivery business in his grief, but his brother William had kept it afloat. In fact, just before moving to Manhattan, he sold the business to William. The money from the sale gave him the funds to rent a house at 338 West Fifty-Fifth Street. He converted one room to a surgery, and hung his sign outside the door. He was going through the motions, doing what any newly qualified doctor was expected to do. But his heart was not in it, and any enterprise begun like that was bound to fail. So it was with his medical practice. Over the next few months visitors were rare, and the young doctor found himself sitting alone with his grief in an empty office, looking at the funds dwindling with his hopes. Stirring within him was an ambition to do something, but he had no idea what.

  He later described it: “At that time the ambition which beset me was undirected; it was only later that I found, almost by accident, what became its focusing point. I felt (as what young man does not?) that I possessed unusual qualifications and exceptional ability. An office was fitted up, and my anxiety over the disappearing pennies was eased by the conviction that I had but to hang out my shingle and the place would be thronged with patients. Six months passed. There had been about three patients.”

  About the only thing that kept him sane, and distracted him from his troubles, was reading. He began to read more and more, developing a taste for tales of exploration. He was particularly drawn to Arctic adventures, perhaps because the loneliness and isolation of the pioneers mirrored his own feelings. He avidly read accounts by American explorers such as Elisha Kent Kane, a physician who achieved a farthest North in 1853, and Charles Francis Hall, who led three expeditions to the Arctic and died in 1871 under mysterious circumstances—possibly poisoned by one of his crew.

  He also kept up to date with more modern developments.

  When Cook spotted an article in the New York Herald toward the end of 1891, for the first time in months he felt a glimmer of life returning. He felt his chest tighten and his pulse quicken. A naval engineer, Robert Peary, was planning an expedition, to try and cross the island of Greenland. He was looking for a crew, and he also wanted a surgeon.

  “I recall sitting alone one gloomy winter day. Opening a paper, I read that Peary was preparing his 1891 expedition to the Arctic. I cannot explain my sensations. It was as if a door to a prison cell had opened. I felt the first indomitable commanding call of the Northland.”

  As he laid down the paper, Cook knew what he had to do. He dashed off a letter to the expedition leader, stating his medical qualifications, and volunteering to be part of the team.

  “To invade the unknown, to assail the fastness of the white, frozen North—all that was latent in me, the impetus of that ambition born in childhood, perhaps before birth, and which had been stifled and starved, surged up tumultuously within me,” he wrote.


  3

  

  AMUNDSEN—THE NAPOLEON OF THE NORTH MAKES HIS ENTRANCE

  Roald Amundsen was mythologized in his lifetime as the Napoleon of the Polar Regions and the Last of the Vikings. He was lionized as a Norwegian hero, the man who put the nationalistic ambitions of his people on the map—and on the most obscure and extreme portions of the map, at that. For a man of such lofty reputation, his early days were depressingly mundane.

  Roald Engelbregt Gravning Amundsen was the fourth and final son of a wealthy ship owner and captain, a self-made man who had ambitions that his offspring would follow in his footsteps and build a business empire. Jens Engebreth Amundsen had made his own way in the world, and hoped his four sons would do the same.

  Norway was part of the Scandinavian stronghold that produced the Viking raiders who terrorized southern Europe for hundreds of years. But by the 1850s, it was just a mountainous backwater under the control of neighboring Sweden. There was a small movement for independence, but most people were more concerned about eking out a living from the harsh landscape. The country was cold and barren and agriculture was limited, but it was surrounded by ocean, with hundreds of narrow deep inlets and fjords that provided ideal harborage. The sea was the key to prosperity.

  Whaling, sealing, and fishing were important industries, and many ships plied their way up the western coast servicing the needs of the tiny settlements. Jens Amundsen, born in 1820 in Snekotta, Hvaler in southern Norway, came from a family of whalers. He went into that business initially, sailing with his family until he gained his captain’s license. Then he began to branch out into less dangerous and more lucrative lines of trade. A careful man, over the years he built up a tidy fortune, which he put toward buying his own boat. There was no point in captaining someone else’s investment.

  At the age of thirty-four he joined with a partner to buy and refurbish an old wreck. He called the new vessel the Phoenix and set sail toward the Black Sea, an inland sea in south eastern Europe, between Russia, the Ukraine, and Turkey. It was a shrewd move; they bought the ship at a scrap auction in 1854, just when the Crimean War was intensifying. The conflict pitted the Russian Empire against Britain, France, and the Ottoman (Turkish) Empire, and would drag on until 1856. Wars were always great for trade, so the Black Sea was the place to be.

  When the Phoenix docked in Sebastopol, it was immediately pressed into service by the British and converted into winter quarters for their officers. When spring came, it was cleared of officers and began supplying the British cavalry, hauling forage and straw up the lines to the troops. It was a heady and exciting time for the young captain with a shrewd business brain. There was plenty of work and a constant sense of danger, and Jens thrived. When he returned to Norway in 1856 at the end of the war, the foundations for his fortune had been laid.

  Fortune favors the brave, and Jens had another lucky break when a change in British trade policy opened the world’s waterways to other nations. The Navigation Act was repealed, and anyone with a ship and the spirit to sail it could make money. It helped if you were ruthless and a bit unscrupulous: two qualities Jens possessed, and passed on to his fourth son in due course. Jens would ship anything, no questions asked. He made a lot of money shipping Chinese indentured laborers around the world, a trade not far removed from the slave trade of a century earlier. Jens was careful with his money, investing in more ships. At one point he was owner or part owner of a fleet of thirty ships across the globe.

  Jens Amundsen had made the transition from ambitious but poor teenager to rich merchant. He was a highly respected member of the commercial elite. Home from the wars, it was now time to settle and lay down roots. He married a woman sixteen years his junior, Gustava Sahlquist. She was a good catch—young and pretty, and the daughter of a government official. More than attraction went into the making of that match.

  He built a house for his wife at Borge, a tiny rural community in the south of the country. But he was a captain as well as a ship owner, and captains sailed with their ships. Gustava led a wandering life for many years; her first son, Jens, was born in China. She did not get much time to enjoy her secluded retreat near the port of Sarpsbord. Over the years, three more sons arrived. First came Gustav, then Leon. Roald was the final one, born on July 16, 1872.

  By now Jens was in his fifties, and it was time for a change of pace. No longer a young man, he agreed to his wife’s request to move to Christiania, the capital of Norway (now known as Oslo). They made the move when Roald was just three months old. It must have been a blessed relief for her, to escape the drab confines of Borge. But Christiania was hardly the center of the universe. It still had the feel of a small town, dominated by the port. Their new home was a two-story dwelling in the center of the city, but it still backed onto forest. The family had a number of servants, and all the trappings of prosperity.

  The children were thrown into a world where urban and rural met. They had the streets to play in, but they could retreat in a minute to the forest. They grew up with the skills of both worlds, becoming worldly men who were comfortable in the great outdoors. And when their father was not at sea, he was very hands-on with the family. Not for him the distant Victorian ideal. He was a stern man, but he had a kindly side, and loved to sit down with his sons around the fire and tell them tales of the exotic regions he had visited. He was always there for them, ready to lend an ear and offer his advice.

  His attitude was often pure Viking. He told his sons that he did not want them getting into fights, but if they did get into one, to make sure to get in the first blow, and make it a good one.

  In many ways it was a charmed childhood. From age six to nine, Roald attended the local primary school, before moving on to the Gymnasium, where he would remain until he was fifteen and it was time to go to college. The boys were loved, and their spirit of adventure was nurtured by their father’s tales, and the proximity to the wild forests and mountains. The big sailing ships in the port were a constant reminder that the world was a wide place, ripe for exploration.

  Gustava was less enamoured of the wide world; once she got to Christiania she stayed there, rarely venturing beyond the city limits. During school holidays she remained at home while the boys traveled with their father to visit relatives in more rural parts of Norway. But she was fiercely determined that her boys would get the best possible start in the world, and she pinned her hopes on a good education. That was one of her reasons for moving the family to the capital. She did not want any of her children ending up as provincial hicks. She enrolled the four boys in a private school, where they got the formal education as befitted the sons of a moneyed father. They learned the usual: classics, mathematics, and a smattering of history. But they also learned English, important if they were to make their mark beyond the narrow confines of Norway.

  Tragedy struck when Roald was just fourteen. His father Jens was returning from a journey to England when he became ill. He passed away on August 15, 1886. Roald was devastated. He wrote: “It is hard to lose such a father.”

  Jens Junior had already dropped out of school and gone to sea. Gustav was nearly finished his studies, and would follow his older brother in quick order. Leon also dropped out and began to work. That left only the youngest still at school. Gustava pinned her hopes on Roald; he would stick it out, go to university, and qualify as a doctor, conferring the ultimate respectability on the family. Roald, young and impressionable, was happy to play along. But his heart was never in his studies. He had inherited his father’s wanderlust, if not his business acumen.

  Perhaps the studies his mother insisted on played a part in eventually turning her son away from her carefully laid plans for him. He began to read English books at the Gymnasium, and found a growing fascination with English history, particularly the history of the navy and the great explorers. One name stood out: John Franklin.

  Franklin was a name to stir the imaginings of a young man. He came to prominence with his expedition in 1819, which aimed to cross the Canadian Arctic from Hudson Bay to the mouth of the Coppermine River. Along the way, eleven of his twenty men perished of cold, starvation, and disease. The few survivors of the three year ordeal had to resort to eating lichens, and trying to boil their shoes. This earned Franklin the unfortunate nickname of “the man who ate his boots.” There were also disturbing rumours of murder and cannibalism.

  Franklin led three arctic expeditions before retiring to govern Van Diemen’s Land. But in 1845, at the advanced age of sixty-one, he was persuaded to come out of retirement to lead one last search for the fabled Northwest Passage.

  The Northwest Passage was the golden grail of polar exploration and the last remaining challenge, as far as the Victorians were concerned. When Columbus set sail in 1496, he was searching for a way to reach the Spice Islands and the riches of the Orient—America got in his way. For the next few centuries countless explorers lost their lives in the search for a passage across the top of the American continent into the Pacific Ocean. By 1845 the world knew that the frozen polar sea might be breached, but it would never be a practical commercial route. However, it was a matter of national pride that the British Navy should make the first successful passage. In Franklin they opted for experience over youth and vigor.

  Franklin’s expedition disappeared, both ships and 134 men swallowed up by the ice. When no word came back, there was no panic initially; it was thought that the ships would be trapped in ice over the winter, and would break free when the brief summer thaw set in. It was a trip expected to stretch out over a few years, and no one back home was alarmed. But as the years passed with no word, no sighting of wreckage, and no accounts of the men, Franklin’s wife—now a widow, though she did not realize it—began to pester the authorities to launch a rescue. Over the next two decades several expeditions set out, but none was able to shed light on the fate of Franklin and his men. It would take a century before the full story would emerge.

  The ships, the Erebus and the Terror, had become stuck in the ice that first winter, but they had never broken free from the crushing pressure. The men had overwintered on Beechey Island, part of the archipelago of small and large islands in the high Canadian Arctic. Franklin had died in 1847, according to a note later found on the island, but no grave has ever been found. His men, leaderless, had tried to retreat south, living off the land. It was a hopeless task. Starvation, food poisoning from improperly stored supplies, pneumonia, scurvy, and other diseases took their toll. Examination of some of the remains found over the years revealed signs that the men had resorted to cannibalism, just as in Franklin’s earlier expedition to the Coppermine River. It was a total defeat, but to the British, in the golden age of heroism, it was a glorious defeat.

  Amundsen eagerly bought into the myth, first reading about Franklin when he was fifteen, then gorging himself on the many expeditions that set sail looking for the lost mariner. At one point there were twelve rescue missions criss-crossing the Arctic at the same time. More men were lost in the rescue attempts than were lost on the expedition itself, but the many voyages were finally mapping the high arctic, and drawing the map that would finally reveal the Northwest Passage.

  As Amundsen read the overblown accounts of Franklin and his successors while looking out at the windswept Christiania docks, he began to dream that he might one day sail those seas himself. Perhaps he might even be the man who finally forced his way through to the Pacific.

  “When I was fifteen years old the works of Sir John Franklin, the great British explorer, fell into my hands. I read them with a fervid fascination which has shaped the whole course of my life,” he later wrote in his autobiography, My Life as an Explorer. He added: “Of all the brave Britisheres who for 400 years had given freely of their treasure, courage, and enterprise to dauntless but unsuccessful attempts to negotiate the Northwest Passage, none was braver than Sir John Franklin. His description of the return from one of his expeditions thrilled me as nothing I had ever read before. He told how for three weeks he and his little band had battled with the ice and storms, with no food to eat except a few bones found at a deserted Indian camp, and how before they finally returned to the outpost of civilization, they were reduced to eating their own boot leather to keep themselves alive.

  “Strangely enough the thing in Sir John’s narrative that appealed to me most strongly was the sufferings he and his men endured. A strange ambition burned within me to endure those same sufferings . . . Sir John’s descriptions decided me upon my career. Secretly, I irretrievably decided to be an arctic explorer.”

  While he kept those dreams to himself, he dutifully kept up his studies, finishing in the Gymnasium and moving on to college. Unknown to his mother, he began to prepare for the hardships ahead. He needed to harden his body for the cold, and he found a very effective way to do that. Every night he would throw his bedroom windows wide open and sleep naked on top of the bed. As he shivered in the cold moonlight, he dreamed of even deeper cold and the glory that would bring.

  “It was part of my hardening process,” he wrote. But he told his mother that he liked fresh air.

  During school breaks he began pushing himself. In winter he skied and trekked over the hills and mountains around Oslo, improving his skills and building up his stamina. He slept out under the stars, the dancing lights of the aurora borealis glowing eerily overhead.

  When he was seventeen, the most famous Norwegian of the time, Fridtjof Nansen, returned to Oslo to a hero’s welcome after skiing across the vast frozen interior of Greenland. It was the first successful crossing of that country, and a source of great national pride. There was a festive atmosphere as Nansen sailed up the fjord toward the city, and the streets were thronged with well-wishers.

  “With beating heart I walked that day among the banners and cheers and all the dreams of my boyhood woke to storming life,” Amundsen recalled. “For the first time I heard, in my secret thoughts, the whisper clear and insistent: If you could do the Northwest Passage!”

  A year later, Amundsen took his final exams. He barely passed, but it was enough. In 1890 he pleased his mother by enrolling in the Royal Frederick University of Christiania. He chose medicine, as she wished. He pursued this course for a number of years. But all the while he was studying, he was also pursuing his own interests. He continued to ski and trek in his spare time, and he continued to read and study the history and techniques of polar exploration. One explorer made a particular impression: Eivind Astrup. Astrup had lectured at the university about his experiences in the Arctic with American explorer Robert Peary. He spoke of dog sleighs and long ski journeys, and the superiority of the local Inuit people when it came to surviving the conditions. Amundsen listened, enthralled. This, rather than anatomy, was his real calling.

  Although he was a serious young man, Amundsen could not keep up the pretense; he simply had no interest in medicine. Very quickly he began to skip lectures, and before long he was failing exams. This created a problem: how could he face his mother? She had her heart set on a doctor in the family. Then, in the autumn of 1893, Gustava Amundsen died. Her unexpected death freed Amundsen from the burden of academia.

  “It saved her from the sad discovery which she would otherwise have made, that my own ambitions lay in another direction, and that I had made but poor progress in realizing hers.”

  “With enormous relief,” Amundsen dropped out of college shortly after his mother’s death. He suddenly found himself free from responsibilities and obligations—and on top of that, he had come into his inheritance. Having a substantial sum in the bank gave him freedom to consider what he wanted out of life, instead of being pushed into what others expected of him. He decided to pursue his ambitions to explore the Arctic.

  He volunteered for an expedition to Spitzbergen, an island far north of Norway, and one of the starting points for attempts on the North Pole. He even suggested that he would be willing to sail for free. His application was rejected; too much enthusiasm and too little experience. But he threw himself into his new studies with a renewed fury. He trekked, he skied, he read, he studied meteorology and geology, all the disciplines he felt he would need. And he planned his first expedition. With a friend he would cross the wild and desolate plateau of Hardangervidda, in central Norway, to the western mountains, on skis.

  The two companions set out on Christmas Day 1893, and took the train as far north as it went. Then they set out on skis, expecting to cover the ground swiftly. But their preparation had consisted of plenty of talk and very little exercise. Blizzards, temperatures of -40°F, and poor equipment took their toll. The pair of intrepid explorers did not even reach the plateau. They got fifty kilometers, and had to give up. They retreated with their tails between their legs.

  Amundsen had learned in the sharpest way that exploration could be a deadly business. He was a boy in a man’s world, and it was time to stop playing.

OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-Bold.otf


OEBPS/Images/cover.jpg
THE GREAT
POLAR FRAUD

Cook, PEARY, AND ByRbo—How THREE
AMERICAN HEROES DUPED THE WORLD INTO THINKING |
TuEY HAD REACHED THE NORTH POLE






OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-BoldIt.otf


OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-Regular.otf


OEBPS/Fonts/MinionPro-It.otf


OEBPS/Images/i-1.jpg
THE GREAT
POLAR FRAUD

CooK, PEARY, AND ByRp—How THREE
AMERICAN HEROES DUPED THE WORLD INTO THINKING
Tuey HAD REACHED THE NORTH POLE

ANTHONY GALVIN

il

Skyhorse Publishing





